RECEIVED

Jan 26 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

H.W. Funderburk, Jr., Administrative Law Court Judge

Case No. 2021-000617

MRI at Belfair, LLC, d/b/a 3T MRI at Belfair, Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Health
and Environmental Control and
Beaufort Memorial Hospital, Respondents.

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT MRI AT
BELFAIR, LLC D/B/A 3T MRI AT BELFAIR**

A. Victor Rawl, Jr. (09261)
E-mail: vrawl@grsm.com
Victoria T. Kepes (102536)
E-mail: vkepes@grsm.com
40 Calhoun Street, Suite 350
Charleston, SC 29401
Telephone: 843.278.5900
*Attorneys for Appellant MRI at Belfair, LLC, d/b/a

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. WHETHER THERE IS AT LEAST A SCINTILLA OF EVIDENCE THAT RESPONDENT BEAUFORT MEMORIAL HOSPITAL IMPERMISSIBLY SPLIT OUT THE “RELOCATION” COSTS TO AVOID CERTIFICATE OF NEED REVIEW.
2. WHETHER THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO PROVIDE APPELLANT WITH PROPER NOTICE BEFORE CONVERTING THE MOTION TO DISMISS TO ONE FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.
3. WHETHER THE “RELOCATION” AT ISSUE IS AN ACQUISITION AND / OR EXPENDITURE AND SUBJECT TO CERTIFICATE OF NEED REVIEW.
4. WHETHER THE FACILITIES AT ISSUE ARE “HEALTH CARE FACILITIES” UNDER THE APPLICABLE CODE AND REGULATIONS AND THEREFORE SUBJECT TO CERTIFICATE OF NEED REVIEW.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is before the Court on appeal from an Order of the Administrative Law Court (“ALC”) dated March 30, 2021 Granting Respondents’ Motion to Dismiss (R. pp. 10-20, the “Order”) as amended by the Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part Petitioner’s Motion to Alter or Amend and Granting Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss entered May 14, 2021 (R. pp. 21-33, the “Final Order”). Appellant MRI at Belfair, LLC, d/b/a 3T MRI at Belfair (“Belfair”) timely filed a notice of appeal on June 11, 2021, and a transcript of the hearing was submitted on July 6, 2021. On July 9, 2021, Belfair requested an extension of an additional thirty days to file this Initial Brief up to and including September 7, 2021. This Court granted the motion for an extension of time on July 12, 2021, for Belfair to file the Initial Brief up to and including September 7, 2021.

I. THE PARTIES

Respondent Beaufort Memorial Hospital (“BMH”) calls itself the “largest medical facility between Savannah, Ga. and Charleston, S.C.” *About Us*, BMHSC.org, available at <https://www.bmhsc.org/about-us/> (last visited Aug. 30, 2021). According to its website, BMH has locations in five separate “communities” including Beaufort, Bluffton, Lady’s Island, Port Royal, and Varnville / Hampton. *Find a Location*, BMHSC.org, available at <https://www.bmhsc.org/find-a-location/> (last visited Aug. 30, 2021). As relevant here, BMH operates one facility at 300 Midtown Drive, Port Royal, South Carolina (the “Port Royal Facility”), and recently opened a brand new facility almost 20 miles away from the Port Royal Facility in Okatie at 122 Okatie Center Blvd North, Okatie, South Carolina (the “Okatie Facility”). (See R. p. 123, Staff Response to Request for Final Review, Docket No. 20-RFR-37, at 2, attached to MRI at Belfair’s Resp. to Mot. To Dismiss as Ex. A [hereinafter, “Staff Response”]; R. pp. 174-200, Request for NA Determination at 1, attached to Belfair’s Resp. to Mot. To Dismiss as Ex. 1 to Ex. D [hereinafter “Request for NAD”].)

Appellant MRI at Belfair, LLC (“Belfair”) operates a single MRI facility in Bluffton, South Carolina very near the Okatie Facility.

II. THE RELEVANT REGULATORY SCHEME

Because the claims in this case are based on the regulatory scheme set forth in the Certificate of Need Act (the “CON Act”), S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-110, *et seq.*, and relevant regulations, it is helpful to begin with the relevant statutory and regulatory background.

The purpose of the CON Act “is to promote cost containment, prevent unnecessary duplication of health care facilities and services, guide the establishment of health facilities and services which will best serve public needs, and ensure high quality services are provided in health

facilities in this state.” S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-120 (emphasis added). As such, the CON Act requires that persons and facilities apply for a Certificate of Need (“CON”) prior to undertaking certain projects, and that the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (“DHEC”) undertake a CON review prior to issuing a CON. *Id.*

As relevant here,

“[a] person or health care facility . . . is required to obtain a [CON] from the department before undertaking . . . the construction or other establishment of a new health care facility, . . . [a]n expenditure by or on behalf of a health care facility in excess of [][\$2,000,000[)], . . . [and] the acquisition of medical equipment which is to be used for diagnosis or treatment if the total project cost is in excess of [][\$600,000].”

S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-160(1), (3), and (6); S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15, § 102(1)(a), (c), and (f). To maintain the integrity of the system, **“[a]n applicant may not split or combine one expenditure into two or more expenditures for the purpose of avoiding [CON] review.”**

S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15 § 102(2) (emphasis added). “When any question exists, a potential applicant shall forward a letter requesting a formal determination by [DHEC] as to the applicability of the [CON] requirements to a particular project.” *Id.* § 102(3).

Certain projects and acquisitions are “exempt” from CON review, but require a written determination from DHEC of that exemption, and others are exempt without a written determination. As relevant here, “[t]he replacement of like equipment for which a [CON] has been issued and the replacement does not result in a material change in service or a new service” is exempted, but a written determination of the exemption is required. S.C. Regs. Ann. 61-15 § 104.

In addition, CON review is “not applicable” to other projects, some of which require a written Non-Applicability Determination (“NAD”) from DHEC and some that do not. As relevant here, an NAD is required for the: (1) “[r]eplacement of like equipment with similar capabilities” and (2) “[a]cquisition of medical equipment which is to be used for diagnoses or

treatment if the total project cost is not in excess of []\$600,000[].” S.C. Code Ann. Regs. Ann. 61-15 § 105(1). Notably, an NAD is also required by § 102(3) of the Regulations whenever a question exists as to the applicability of the CON laws to a project. S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15, § 102(3). By this provision, a provider can—and indeed should—request an NAD whenever there is doubt about a project’s CON status, and obtaining an NAD carries the benefit of a formal regulatory determination that the project is permissible, which effectively guarantees the provider that DHEC will not seek to shut down the project on the grounds that it needed a CON. Where an NAD is granted, it is valid for a period of 12 months after issuance. *Id.*

Notably, the statutes and regulations do not contain any exemption or non-applicability status for the relocation of medical equipment or services.

III. THE UNDERLYING FACTS

In July 2003, DHEC issued an “exemption”¹ to Lowcountry Medical Group for the replacement of an old, obsolete 1.0T MRI with a new 1.0T MRI at the Port Royal Facility (“Exemption E-03-49”). (*See* R. p. 124, Staff Response at 2.)

On April 4, 2019, almost 16 years after the original exemption, BMH, which had become the owner of Lowcountry Medical Group, received an NAD to replace the 2003 MRI at the Port Royal Facility with a new Canon Medical Titan 1.5T MRI (“NA-19-03” or the “2019 NAD”).² (R. p. 124, Staff Response at 2.) In that NAD, DHEC stated that the NAD was based on S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15 § 105(1)(a), which provides that CON review is not applicable to the “[r]eplacement of

¹ The CON regulations were updated in 2012 to separate exemption determinations from non-applicability determinations (“NADs”).

² DHEC in the Staff Response and BMH in their motion refer to this as NA-19-09, but the documents DHEC provided in response to a FOIA request indicate that this was NA-19-03. (*See* R. p. 143, April 4, 2019 Letter, at 1.) Thus, it appears that both DHEC and BMH were referring to NA-19-03, which is the only NAD of April 4, 2019 that was provided by DHEC.

like equipment with similar capabilities.” According to the materials submitted by BMH, the 1.5T MRI was purchased for \$1,229,037.00. (*Id.*) Per the CON regulations, the NAD was valid for 12 months—April 4, 2019 to April 4, 2020. (*See* R. pp. 143-144, April 4, 2019 Letter from DHEC to Beaufort Memorial, at 2, attached to Belfair’s Resp. to Mot. To Dismiss as Exhibit B [hereinafter “April 4, 2019 Letter”].)

On May 20, 2020, approximately six (6) weeks after the expiration of NA-19-03, BMH requested *another* NAD regarding the exact same piece of equipment. This time, BMH requested an NAD for the “relocation” of the 1.5T MRI from the Port Royal Facility, where it had just been installed, to the brand new Okatie Facility located almost 20 miles away and in a vastly different service area. (*See* R. p. 174, Request for NAD at 1.) **In that request, BMH submitted information showing that it intended all along for the new MRI to be installed in Okatie, not to replace the old MRI at Port Royal, as was deceptively claimed in the first NAD request.** (R. p. 193, *Id.* at 20 (showing the justification of the **purchase** of the \$1.2 million MRI was a “future move to new Bluffton MOB”).) Despite this information, DHEC erroneously issued NA-20-04 (the “2020 NAD”), an NAD based on the alleged total project cost reported by BMH of \$125,000.

In addition to moving the new 1.5T MRI to a brand new facility and building out a room for the MRI with shielding and other necessary construction, BMH is also moving a CT scanner to the new facility under an exemption. (*See* R. p. 167, Certificate of Need Update, DHEC, June 2020 at 22, attached to Belfair’s Resp. to Mot. To Dismiss as Exhibit C [hereinafter, “CON Update”].)³ As demonstrated in the drawings BMH submitted to DHEC, BMH is building an entirely new imaging

³ It is notable that despite a FOIA request to DHEC requesting all information and documents submitted by BMH regarding the new Okatie facility, DHEC failed to provide Belfair with any information or mention of the requested exemption regarding the CT scanner.

center, in a brand new location, in a new service area, using brand new equipment, but attempting to avoid any meaningful need review from DHEC. (*See* R. p. 199, Request for NAD, at 25.)

Contrary to BMH's claims, Belfair's expert health planner, Kathy Platt, has opined that the project cost to install a new 1.5T MRI in a brand new medical facility such as the Okatie facility is well above and beyond the \$125,000 claimed by BMH. (*See* R. p. 171, Platt Aff. ¶¶ 9-10 [hereinafter, "Platt Aff."].)

On July 1, 2020, despite the clear problems with BMH's request and submissions, DHEC issued the instant NAD for the "relocation" of the new MRI from Port Royal to Bluffton. (R. pp. 202-203, NA-20-04, attached to Belfair's Resp. to Mot. To Dismiss as Exhibit E.) Belfair timely requested final review. (R. pp. 205-206, Request for Final Review, attached to Belfair's Resp. to Mot. To Dismiss as Exhibit F.) The DHEC Board declined to hold a final review conference, and Belfair timely requested a contested case hearing in the ALC. (R. pp. 224-225, Denial of Final Review, attached to Belfair's Resp. to Mot. To Dismiss as Exhibit G; R. pp. 227-249, Request for Contested Case Hearing, attached to Belfair's Resp. to Mot. To Dismiss as Exhibit H.)

IV. DISMISSAL WITHOUT A CONTESTED CASE HEARING

The contested case was assigned to the Honorable H.W. Funderburk, Jr., on September 24, 2020. (R. p. 57, Notice of Reassignments.) Judge Funderburk ordered the parties to submit prehearing statements on September 28, 2020, and Appellant and Respondents each submitted prehearing statements on October 28, 2020. Neither Respondent filed a motion to dismiss before submitting their prehearing statements. The ALC entered a Scheduling Order providing, among other things, that discovery was to be completed by March 15, 2021. Belfair promptly served written discovery requests on BMH, but BMH never provided any responses.

Instead, BMH filed a Motion to Dismiss the contested case action on January 8, 2021. A hearing on the motion to dismiss was held on March 16, 2021, and the ALC issued an Order Granting the Motion to Dismiss on March 30, 2021 (the “Order”, R. pp. 10-20). In that Order, the ALC held that (1) the ALC had jurisdiction over the contested case hearing, (2) Rules 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure were not appropriate avenues to dismiss the case, but summary judgment was appropriate, even though no notice of converting the motion to dismiss to a motion for summary judgment was given, and (3) there was no genuine issue of fact as to the cost of the relocation of the MRI, which was \$125,000 (as claimed by BMH), and therefore the cost to relocate did not exceed the \$600,000 threshold. (R. pp. 10-20.)

Belfair filed a timely Motion to Alter or Amend the Order Granting the Motion to Dismiss on April 9, 2021. In that motion, Belfair argued: (1) the Rules of Civil Procedure require the Court give Belfair proper notice before converting the motion to one for summary judgment and no notice was given; (2) Belfair demonstrated the need for discovery to establish the facts necessary to support its claim; (3) the facilities at issue are “healthcare facilities”; (4) the Order Granting the Motion to Dismiss failed to address BMH’s improper cost splitting; (5) relocation of the MRI was an acquisition needing CON review; and (6) CONs, NADs, and written exemptions are location specific. (R. pp. 305-318.)

In response, on May 14, 2021, the ALC issued a new Order granting in part and denying in part the motion to alter or amend (R. pp. 21-33, the “Final Order”). In the Final Order, the ALC failed to address the significant case law requiring notice before converting a motion to dismiss to a motion for summary judgment. In addition, the Final Order held that discovery to determine the cost of the relocation would not establish a material issue of fact because the relocation was not an acquisition. Third, the Final Order held that the facilities at issue were not “health care facilities”

under the applicable code and regulations. Finally, the Final Order held that there was no impermissible cost-splitting and that NADs are not location specific. (R. pp. 21-33.) As demonstrated herein, the Final Order should be vacated, and Belfair should be given the opportunity to conduct discovery.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Summary judgment is a drastic remedy to be invoked cautiously and must be denied if [the non-moving party] demonstrates a scintilla of evidence in support of [it’s] claims.” *Abdelgheny v. Moody*, 432 S.C. 346, 349, 852 S.E.2d 225, 227 (Ct. App. 2020). An appellate court “review[s] the granting of summary judgment under the same standard applied by the trial court under Rule 56(c) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.” *Bennett v. Carter*, 421 S.C. 374, 379, 807 S.E.2d 197, 200 (2017). Pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRPC, summary judgment is only appropriate where there is “no genuine issue as to any material fact and [] the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” “On appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below.” *Miller v. Blumenthal Mills, Inc.*, 365 S.C. 204, 219, 616 S.E.2d 722, 729 (Ct. App. 2005).

“[S]ummary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute as to the evidentiary facts, if there is a dispute as to the conclusion to be drawn therefrom.” *Gadson v. Hembree*, 364 S.C. 316, 613 S.E.2d 533 (2005); *see also Miller*, 365 S.C. 204, at 220, 616 S.E. 2d at 729 (“Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law.”) (citing *Gadson*, 364 S.C. 316, 613 S.E.2d 533). “Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied.” *Montgomery v. CSX*

Transp., Inc., 362 S.C. 529, 542, 608 S.E.2d 440, 447 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing *Schmidt v. Courtney*, 357 S.C. 310, 319, 592 S.E.2d 326, 331 (Ct. App. 2003)). “[T]he question of existence or nonexistence of evidence is one of law.” *Mims v. Coleman*, 248 S.C. 235, 237, 149 S.E.2d 623, 624 (1966).

Moreover, issues of statutory interpretation are legal questions reviewed by the appellate court *de novo*. *Hueble v. South Carolina Dept. of Natural Resources*, 416 S.C. 220, 228, 785 S.E.2d 461, 465 (S.C. 2016). “In a case raising a novel issue of law regarding the interpretation of a statute, the appellate court is free to decide the question with no particular deference to the lower court.” *Sloan v. S.C. Bd. of Physical Therapy Exam'rs*, 370 S.C. 452, 466, 636 S.E.2d 598, 605 (2006). “The appellate court is free to decide the question based on its assessment of which interpretation and reasoning would best comport with the law and public policies of this state and the Court's sense of law, justice, and right.” *Id.* at 467, 636 S.E.2d at 605–06.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

BMH attempted to avoid CON review for the placement of a brand-new MRI at its brand-new Okatie Facility by splitting the cost into at least two NAD requests: one for “replacement” of the obsolete MRI at the Port Royal Facility with a new MRI and another for “relocation” of that very same new MRI to the Okatie Facility. Based on the limited record before the ALC, two important things are undisputed. *First*, BMH admits in its own submissions to DHEC that BMH’s plan all along was to locate the new MRI in Okatie, not to replace the MRI in Port Royal. *Second*, had BMH forthrightly presented the purchase of a new MRI for the Okatie Facility as a single project (instead of deceptively splitting the purchase and relocation into separate NAD requests), a Certificate of Need would have been required. The core question presented by the this appeal is whether the BMH two-step of separately requesting an NAD for

“replacement” and then immediately thereafter a second NAD for “relocation” of the same piece of expensive medical equipment is a permissible means of circumventing the CON laws, or whether this practice violates the clear prohibition against cost-splitting set forth in S.C. Regs. 61-15 § 102(2).

This question matters because the order below provides a clear roadmap to health care providers seeking to avoid CON review: simply “replace” a piece of equipment in an unfavorable location and then get a second NAD to move the equipment to any location the provider deems more favorable, no matter the need or other project review criteria applicable to the new location. Allowing this practice flies in the face of the plain text of the CON regulations and utterly subverts the purposes of the CON Act. The CON regulations state that an applicant may not “split . . . one expenditure into two or more expenditures for the purpose of avoiding [CON] review.” S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15 § 102(2). Yet that is *exactly* what BMH did here—it intentionally split the real project (acquiring a new MRI in Okatie) into two expenditures (one for purchasing the MRI as a “replacement” and another for relocating the MRI) to avoid CON review. Moreover, allowing such a split means that BMH can locate a brand new piece of equipment costing well above the \$600,000 threshold in a location that DHEC has never reviewed for need, accessibility, financial feasibility, adverse impact, or any of the project review criteria set forth in the CON regulations.

The BMH two-step makes a mockery of the CON system, and it was error for the ALC to permit it at all, much less on a pre-discovery motion to dismiss that the ALC converted into a motion for summary judgment without notice to Belfair. Indeed, the ALC’s conversion of BMH’s motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment was procedurally improper because Belfair was not given notice and an opportunity to develop the factual record at all

before summary judgment was entered against it. Moreover, despite being denied notice required under the law, Belfair did present significantly more than a scintilla of evidence supporting its claims. Accordingly, the Order should be vacated, and Belfair should be permitted to take discovery on whether BMH impermissibly split the costs of the project for purposes of avoiding CON review. While that conclusion seems obvious from the limited pre-discovery record available, Belfair has little doubt that discovery will make that conclusion incontrovertible and place the ALC in a position to render a reasoned decision on that point backed by a full factual record.

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