**RECEIVED**

**Jan 24 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

H.W. Funderburk, Jr., Administrative Law Court Judge

---

Docket No. 20-ALJ-07-0235-CC

Appellate Case No.: 2021-000617

---

MRI at Belfair, LLC d/b/a 3T MRI at Belfair,

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control and  
Beaufort Memorial Hospital,

Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT  
BEAUFORT MEMORIAL HOSPITAL**

---

Trudy H. Robertson (S.C. Bar No. 64856)  
E. Brandon Gaskins (S.C. Bar No. 73274)  
Moore & Van Allen PLLC  
78 Wentworth Street  
Charleston, SC 29401

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

## **ARGUMENTS**

**I. The ALC lacked subject matter jurisdiction to review DHEC's decision because DHEC had no legal duty to review BMH's relocation request for the MRI scanner and no legal duty to provide a written CON, exemption or NAD.**

The ALC is a court of limited jurisdiction prescribed by the General Assembly. *Amisub of S.C., Inc. v.* 403 S.C. at 585, 743 S.E.2d at 791. "By statute, the General Assembly has authorized the ALC to preside over 'contested case' proceedings." *Id.* A "contested case" is defined as "a

proceeding including, but not restricted to, ratemaking, price fixing, and licensing,” in which a party’s rights are to be determined by an agency or the ALC. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-320(A). In this context, a “license” includes any agency permit, certificate, or approval “*required by law.*” *Amisub*, 403 S.C. at 586, 743 S.E.2d at 792 (citing § 1-23-505(4)) (emphasis in original). Thus, for a contested case to arise from an agency decision, the decision must be issued pursuant to a legal duty owed by the agency. *Id.* at 596, 743 S.E.2d at 797. If the agency has no legal duty to issue a decision, then a party purportedly affected by that decision does not have a corresponding right to a contested case. *Id.*

In this case, DHEC’s decision at issue could not give rise to a contested case over which the ALC had jurisdiction because DHEC had no legal duty to issue its decision under the applicable CON laws and regulations.<sup>1</sup> The CON Act requires persons or “health care facilities” to obtain a CON from DHEC before undertaking the following activities:

- (1) the construction or other establishment of a new health care facility;
- (2) a change in the existing bed complement of a health care facility through the addition of one or more beds or change in the classification of licensure of one or more beds;
- (3) an expenditure by or on behalf of a health care facility in excess of an amount to be prescribed by regulation;
- (4) a capital expenditure by or on behalf of a health care facility which is associated with the addition or substantial expansion of a health service for which specific standards or criteria are prescribed in the South Carolina Health Plan;
- (5) the offering of a health service by or on behalf of a health care facility which has not been offered by the facility in the preceding twelve months and for which specific standards or criteria are prescribed in the South Carolina Health Plan;

---

<sup>1</sup> Although the ALC ruled that it had subject matter jurisdiction over the case and Belfair’s appeal does not challenge the ALC’s ruling on this issue, lack of subject matter jurisdiction can be raised at any time and *sua sponte* by this Court. *S.C. Dep’t of Soc. Servs. v. Tran*, 418 S.C. 308, 314-315, 792 S.E.2d 254, 257 (Ct. App. 2016). Lack of subject matter jurisdiction may not be waived and should be taken notice of by this Court. *Id.*

(6) the acquisition of medical equipment which is to be used for diagnosis or treatment if the total project cost is in excess of that prescribed by regulation.

S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-160; *see also* S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15, § 102(1). Significantly, relocation of medical equipment is not an activity requiring a CON from DHEC.

In addition to requiring a CON for certain activities, the CON Act and the CON Regulation (S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15) also include enumerated activities that are exempt from the requirements for a CON, such as the acquisition of medical equipment for research, offices of licensed private practitioners, the replacement of like equipment for which a CON has been issued and which does not constitute a material change in service or a new service, and crisis stabilization unit facilities. § 44-7-170(A); S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15, § 104. A written exemption must be obtained before undertaking any project specifically exempted from the CON requirements. § 44-7-170(C); S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15, § 104(1). No written exemption from DHEC is needed to relocate medical equipment.

The CON Act and the CON Regulation promulgated by DHEC also contain provisions under which a healthcare provider may seek a written determination from DHEC that the CON Act does not apply to a proposed project, which is also known as a NAD. *Amisub*, 403 S.C. at 589, 743 S.E.2d at 794; S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-170(B)(1); S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15, § 105(1). Under DHEC's CON Regulation, a written NAD is required before a provider may replace like equipment with similar capabilities or acquire medical equipment which is to be used for diagnosis or treatment if the total project costs exceed \$600,000. S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15, § 105(1). Relocation of medical equipment is not an action requiring a written NAD.

Under this statutory and regulatory scheme, relocation of existing medical equipment, including an MRI scanner, does not require the issuance of a CON from DHEC. Also, there is no

requirement to obtain a written exemption or a written NAD from DHEC before relocating such equipment. Thus, there is no written decision, certificate, or approval from DHEC “required by law” to relocate an MRI scanner.

Based on these facts, the ALC did not have subject matter jurisdiction to preside over Belfair’s request for a contested case under the South Carolina Supreme Court’s decision in *Amisub*, in which the court concluded that a contested case could not arise from DHEC’s decision not requiring a CON or NAD for an urgent care center. In that case, Carolinas Physicians Network (CPN) planned to construct a medical office building and wrote to DHEC, requesting confirmation that the project did not require CON review. *Amisub*, 403 S.C. at 579, 743 S.E.2d at 788. A DHEC staff member issued a written response confirming that the project did not require CON review. *Id.* Following completion of construction, CPN opened an urgent care center at the medical office building. *Id.* at 580, 743 S.E.2d at 788. Piedmont Hospital, a competing provider, raised objections to DHEC staff about CPN opening the urgent care center without a CON or NAD. *Id.* Although DHEC did not issue a written decision memorializing its decision that neither a CON nor a NAD was required for the project, DHEC’s staff purportedly informed Piedmont’s lawyer of its decision during a meeting. *Id.* Following that meeting, Piedmont requested that the DHEC Board conduct a final review of the staff’s decision not to require a CON or a NAD for the urgent care center. *Id.* at 581, 743 S.E.2d at 789. The DHEC Board denied Piedmont’s request for final review, and Piedmont then requested from the ALC a contested case. *Id.* The ALC subsequently granted CPN summary judgment in the contested case because the urgent care center was exempt from CON review as a matter of law. *Id.*

After the ALC granted summary judgment, Piedmont appealed to the Court of Appeals, which reversed summary judgment and remanded the case to the ALC for further discovery and

proceedings. *Id.* at 582-84, 743 S.E.2d at 790-91. However, on *certiorari*, the Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeals and ruled that the ALC did not have subject matter jurisdiction to conduct a contested case hearing. *Id.* at 596-97, 743 S.E.2d at 797. According to the court, no formal decision could emanate from DHEC for which a contested case proceeding is provided by law because DHEC had no legal duty to provide a written CON, NAD, or exemption for the urgent care center. *Id.* The South Carolina Supreme Court stated, “Since there was no legal duty owed by DHEC to issue a staff decision in this matter, which is the trigger giving rise to a contested case, there was no corresponding obligation that Piedmont be afforded a contested case hearing before the ALC.” *Id.*

*Amisub* dictates that the ALC lacked subject matter jurisdiction over Belfair’s request for a contested case hearing because formal written approval from DHEC was not required to relocate the MRI scanner. Just as the CON Act and the CON Regulation did not require a written decision from DHEC approving a CON, a NAD, or an exemption for an urgent care center, as decided in *Amisub*, they similarly do not require formal written approval for the relocation of BMH’s MRI scanner. Because DHEC had no legal duty to provide a formal written decision approving a CON, a NAD, or an exemption for such relocation, Belfair cannot utilize the contested case review process to challenge DHEC’s informal response to BMH’s request.

Although the ALC ruled that it had jurisdiction over Belfair’s contested case, its reasoning does not accord with *Amisub*. According to the ALC, it had jurisdiction over the matter because, despite the fact that “BMH did not request a formal NAD,” DHEC interpreted BMH’s correspondence seeking confirmation that CON approval was not required “as a request for a [NAD]” and issued a NAD. (R. p. 26.) In so doing, the ALC improperly relied on DHEC’s interpretation of BMH’s request without determining whether DHEC had a legal duty to issue a

NAD in response to BMH's request, as it was required to do under *Amisub*. And because there was no legal obligation for DHEC to issue a written NAD in response to BMH's request, no contested case can arise from DHEC's confirmation, regardless of whether DHEC considered BMH's request as one for a NAD.

In fact, DHEC admitted that a written NAD is not required from DHEC in response to BMH's request to relocate the MRI scanner. The fact that DHEC provided a written confirmation that BMH could proceed with the relocation should be viewed as nothing more than an agency providing responsive information to a healthcare provider for the purpose of clarifying the application of the law and avoiding regulatory uncertainty, both of which should be encouraged as a matter of public policy. *See Alaska Dep't of Env'tl. Conservation v. United States*, 540 U.S. 461, 516 (2003) (Kennedy, dissenting) ("Regulated persons and entities should be able to consult an agency staff with certainty and confidence, giving due consideration to agency recommendations and guidance.") However, if merely providing a written response to any request regarding the application of the CON laws and regulations will automatically give rise to a contested case, DHEC will naturally be reluctant to provide such clarity out of fear that it will become mired in unnecessary litigation. Similarly, healthcare providers will be hesitant to seek written guidance from DHEC if doing so will increase the likelihood that DHEC's decision will be reviewed through the ALC contested case process, thereby causing significant legal fees and costs and delays in proceeding with their prospective projects. Neither of those results are desired but will ultimately occur if the ALC's rationale for concluding jurisdiction exists in this case is adopted by the Court.

To avoid this situation, the Court should find that the ALC lacked subject matter jurisdiction over Belfair's request for a contested case. DHEC's mere written confirmation that a project can proceed without a CON can neither expand nor narrow the jurisdiction of the ALC.

Instead, under *Amisub*, whether a contested case exists is determined by whether DHEC had a legal duty to approve a CON, grant a written exemption, or issue a written NAD. In this case, no such legal duty existed, and therefore, the ALC lacked subject matter jurisdiction.

**II. The ALC correctly ruled that BMH’s relocation of an existing MRI scanner did not require CON review or a NAD.**

Belfair mistakenly argues that the ALC erred in ruling that the relocation of the MRI scanner did not require CON review. Specifically, Belfair asserts that the “applicable regulations provide that a CON or NAD is required, as applicable, for a service or equipment that is being relocated, even if it is already in existence, operational and providing services in a particular service area and even if the service or equipment received the approval required when they first came into service.” To support this interpretation, Belfair cites S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15, § 102(4), which provides:

***These provisions do not apply to acquisitions or changes of ownership of health care facilities, services, and equipment*** that are already in existence, operational, and providing services in a particular service area, and which have undergone review and obtained the approval that was appropriate under the law at the time they first entered the relevant service area, so long as the facility or service is not being relocated. For facilities, services, and equipment which have previously undergone Certificate of Need review, the Certificate of Need must be fulfilled ***prior to a change of ownership.***

(Emphasis added.)

Contrary to Belfair’s argument, S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15, § 102(4) does not require a CON or NAD for a relocation. Instead, the regulation by its plain terms merely provides that acquisitions or changes of ownership of health care facilities, services, and equipment do not require a CON so long as the facility or service is not being relocated. Because this case does not involve an acquisition or change of ownership, S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15, § 102(4) has no applicability.

In further support of its argument that relocation of the MRI scanner required CON review, Belfair argues that S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15, § 802(2)(d) requires an applicant to submit to DHEC in its CON proposal specific demographic information justifying “a reduction, relocation, or elimination of a facility or service.” According to Belfair, “If a ‘relocation’ did not require regulatory review, as the ALC erroneously held, then §§ 102(4)’s and 802(2)(d)’s references to relocation would be entirely without meaning.” Here, Belfair ignores the obvious interpretation that the requirements of § 802(2)(d) apply only when a relocation requires CON review, but those requirements do not apply if the relocation does not require CON review.

Put another way, the CON Act, the CON Regulation, and the South Carolina Health Plan require CON review for relocation of *some* facilities, services, and equipment but not for relocation of *all* facilities, services, or equipment. If CON review is required for a relocation, then the applicant must submit to DHEC a CON proposal containing the information identified in S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15, § 802(2)(d). If CON review is not required, then there is no proposal to submit, and hence, no reason to submit the demographic information identified in that regulation. Thus, there is no merit to Belfair’s suggestion that the ALC’s ruling renders the references to relocation in S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15, § 102(4) and § 802(2)(d) meaningless.

Belfair additionally argues that relocation of services or equipment is required under the South Carolina Health Plan. In making this argument, Belfair refers to the section of the South Carolina Health Plan governing transfers between “affiliated facilities,” which is defined as “two or more health care facilities, whether inpatient or outpatient, owned, leased, or who have a formal legal relationship with a central organization and whose relationship has been established for reasons other than for transferring beds, equipment or services.”<sup>2</sup> However, Belfair’s reliance on

---

<sup>2</sup> 2020 South Carolina Health Plan, p. 5.

this provision in the South Carolina Health Plan is mistaken because BMH's medical office buildings in Port Royal and Okatie are not "health care facilities," as that term is defined in the CON Act and CON Regulation.

The CON Act and CON Regulation define "health care facility" as:

acute care hospitals, psychiatric hospitals, alcohol and substance abuse hospitals, nursing homes, ambulatory surgical facilities, rehabilitation facilities, residential treatment facilities for children and adolescents, intermediate care for the persons with intellectual disability, narcotic treatment programs, and any other facility for which Certificate of Need review is required by federal law.

S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-130(10); S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15, § 103(12). Neither medical office buildings nor imaging centers fall within this definition. *See Amisub*, 403 S.C. at 587, 743 S.E.2d at 792 (declaring that urgent care centers were not among entities listed as constituting a health care facility). Therefore, the Port Royal and Okatie medical office buildings are not "health care facilities" under the CON Act, as the ALC correctly concluded, and, consequently, they are not affiliated facilities for CON purposes under the South Carolina Health Plan. As a result, the South Carolina Health Plan did not require CON review for the relocation of the MRI scanner.

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